
 
1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUMMONS 
 
 
MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 
 
 
Wednesday 22 February 2023 
 
 
Council Chamber, The Forum 
 
 

 
You are hereby summoned to a meeting of the Dacorum Borough Council in the County 
of Hertfordshire to be held in the Council Chamber, The Forum on Wednesday 22 
February 2023 at 7.30 pm to transact the business set out below. 
 
 
 

 
 
CLAIRE HAMILTON 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
TO ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 
 

Contact: Corporate & Democratic Support 
 ext 2209 

  
 

 

Public Document Pack



 
2 

 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. MINUTES  (Pages 5 - 17) 
 
 To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting of the council  

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 To receive any declarations of interest 

 
3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   
 
 To consider questions (if any) by members of the public of which the appropriate notice 

has been given to the Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted Services)  
 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS   
 
 To receive announcements and business brought forward by the Mayor, Leader, and 

Members of the Cabinet or the Chief Executive. 
 
4.1 By the Mayor:  
 
4.2 By the Chief Executive: 
 
4.3 By the Group Leaders:  Any apologies for absence 
 
4.4 Council Leader and Members of the Cabinet: 
 

Councillor Williams Leader of the Council 
Councillor Banks  Communities 
Councillor Anderson Place  
Councillor Elliot Corporate Services 

            Councillor Griffiths  Housing Services   
Councillor Williams Commercial Strategy and Delivery 
Councillor Barrett Neighbourhood Services 

 
 
 

5. MOTIONS   
 



 
3 

 

 5.1 MOTION ONE – Proposer Cllr Anderson 

The Government’s furlough scheme supported many businesses and individuals and saved the economy 

during the covid crisis, and the Government has provided welcome support with energy bills during the 

cost of living crisis. 

However, energy bills have still risen by 80 to 100%, whilst wholesale energy prices have fallen away 

dramatically, and energy exploration profits have risen sharply. 

The Council supports the introduction of a tax on the windfall profits made by energy firms as a result of 

high prices, but, with the reduction in wholesale prices, and the review of the price cap due at the end of 

March, the Council is keen to ensure that measures are put in place to support households and 

businesses, including where appropriate a reduction in energy costs. 

The Council therefore calls on the Leader of the Council to write to the Secretary of State for Energy 

Security and Net Zero, Grant Shapps MP, to ask for this help. 

5.2 MOTION TWO – Proposer Cllr Sheron Wilkie 

 

Female firefighters and police officers suffering sexist and misogynistic treatment. 

 

Dorset and Wiltshire Fire Service have launched an independent review amid damning testimony shared 

with ITV News from female firefighters claiming sexist and misogynistic treatment within the organisation. 

This follows an investigation into South Wales Fire Service where comparable complaints were raised. A 

similar review was undertaken by the London fire brigade last year that revealed incidents of misogyny 

racism and bullying in UK’s largest firefighting service.  

Several female firefighters told ITV News  of experiencing persistent sexual harassment, including one 

male firefighter demanding sexual favours at the scene of a fire. The women also revealed dozens of 

explicit photographs and unsolicited messages they had been sent by male colleagues, including demands 

for sex. 

The former Chief Crown Prosecutor for the North-West, Nazir Afzal OBE, has said ‘This isn’t a London 

problem — it’s a nationwide problem, and I think what we are seeing now is the Fire Service’s #MeToo 

moment.’  

There are parallel issues in the police force with an official report from His Majesty’s Inspectorate of 

Constabulary  stating that defective vetting and leadership failures  have allowed a ‘prevalent’ culture of 

potentially thousands of officers who are ‘predatory’ towards women to join ,and stay in, the force.  

Officers carried out unwarranted stops on women in an abuse of power known as ‘booty patrols’, with 

crimes such as sexual assault and large-scale harassment of female officers and members of the public, 

either ignored or covered up.  

 
1 

 https://www.itv.com/news/2023-01-31/police-investigate-claims-firefighters-took-photos-of-dead-women-in-car-crashes  

1 
 https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11711937/Sickening-allegations-emerge-firefighters-sharing-photos-dead-women.html  

1 
 His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) – Home (justiceinspectorates.gov.uk) 

 

Within this context this Council:  

 

1. Unequivocally condemns any such behaviour in Hertfordshire Fire Service and Hertfordshire 

Police Service and will take the following actions : 

  

2. That the  Leader of the Council write to the Chief Fire Officer for Hertfordshire Fire Service, to 

support the actions being taken to ensure that all complaints of sexual harassment  and misogynistic 

behaviour within the Service are fully investigated and that any such complaint will immediately result in 

the suspension of that officer pending investigation. 

 

3. That the Leader of the Council writes to the Police and Crime Commissioner to ask what steps he 

intends to take to ensure that female Police Officers are able to make complaints of sexual harassment 

and misogynistic behaviour and that any such complaint will immediately result in the suspension of that 

officer pending investigation. 

 

4. That DBC give clear and accessible routes for any female firefighters or police officers to make a 

complaint , and ;  

 

5. To support and assist any female firefighters and police officers in their complaint process. 

 

 

https://www.itv.com/news/2023-01-31/police-investigate-claims-firefighters-took-photos-of-dead-women-in-car-crashes
https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11711937/Sickening-allegations-emerge-firefighters-sharing-photos-dead-women.html
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/


 
4 

 

6. BUSINESS FROM THE LAST COUNCIL MEETING  (Pages 18 - 19) 
 
 To consider any business referred from the previous meeting 

 
7. CABINET REFERRALS  (Pages 20 - 28) 
 
 To consider the following referrals from Cabinet: 

 
24th January 2023 
 
7.1 CA/08/23 COMMITTEE TIMETABLE 
7.2 CA/09/23 TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
 
14th February 2023 
 
7.3 CA/18/23  QUARTER 3 FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2022-23 
7.4 CA/20/23 BUDGET REPORT 
7.5 CA/25/23 RELEASE OF COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY CORE FUNDS 
 
PART 2  
7.6 CA/27/23 LEADERSHIP TEAM (TIER 2) AND CORPORATE SUPPORT 
RESTRUCTURE 
 

8. COUNCIL TAX REPORT  (Pages 29 - 36) 
 

9. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY REFERRALS   
 
 There were no Overview & Scrutiny referrals 

 
10. CHANGES TO COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP   
 
 To consider any proposals for changes to committee membership 

 
11. CHANGE TO COMMITTEE DATES   
 
 To consider any proposals for changes to committee dates 

 
12. CALL IN AND URGENCY PROCEDURE   
 
 To inform the Council of an urgent Portfolio Holder Decision.   

 
This is for information purposes only 
 
PH-002-23 - Business Rate Relief 
 

 
 



 

  

DACORUM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 

18 JANUARY 2023 

********************************************************************************************  

Present - 

MEMBERS: 

Birnie (Mayor), Adeleke, Allen, Anderson, Banks, Barrett, Barry-Mears, Bhinder 
Beauchamp, Chapman, Claughton, Dhyani, Douris, Durrant, Elliot, England, Foster, Freedman, Griffiths, 
Guest, Harden, Hearn, Hobson, Hollinghurst, Imarni, Johnson, Link, Maddern, Sobaan Mahmood, Oguchi, 
Peter, Pringle, Riddick, Rogers, Silwal, Sinha, Stevens, Sutton, Symington, Taylor, Tindall, Timmis, 
Williams, Wilkie and Wyatt-Lowe. 
(45) 

 

OFFICERS: 

C Hamilton (Chief Executive), M Brookes (Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services) 

C O’Neil (Corporate & Democratic Team Leader), L Fowell (Acting Corporate & 

Democratic Support Lead Officer) and J Gowlett (Desktop & AV Support Analyst) 

 

The meeting began at 7.30pm 

 

1. Minutes  

 

The minutes of the previous meeting, 23rd November 2022, were accepted as a true record.  

 

2. Declarations of Interest  

 

There were no declarations of interest from members.  

 

3. Public Participation  

 

There were no members of the public present.  

 

4. Announcements  

 

There were no announcements from the Mayor or Chief Executive 

 

Cllr Williams gave apologies for Cllr Suqlain Mahmood, Cllr Arslan, Cllr Bassadone,  

 

Cllr Tindall gave apologies for Cllr Ransley, Cllr McDowell and Cllr Townsend.  

 

Portfolio Holders Updates 

 

Cllr Williams – Leader of the Council 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



 

Following the public notice that Amazon will be moving from Hemel, a senior representative has confirmed 

staff at the site are in the 45-day consultation period for transfer to Dunstable, but they are not renewing the 

expired lease on the building, which is too small and not automated enough. All staff will be offered 

alternative employment at the other site, on the same shift pattern, but they couldn't confirm the inclusion of 

agency staff and those directly employed by Amazon. It was also confirmed that the delivery station on 

Swallowdale Lane is also being transferred to Dunstable, but this is a smaller site not subject to the 45-day 

consultation, and all staff will transfer. Amazon confirmed that they were not looking for another site in the 

Hemel Hempstead or Dacorum area currently.  

  

Cllr Williams also noted that, with immediate effect, all responsibility for the Council's non-HRA properties, 

being general fund properties, investment properties, and commercial estate, will move from the Place 

Portfolio under Cllr Anderson to Commercial Strategy and Delivery under Cllr Williams.  

  

Cllr Tindall asked for confirmation that Amazon will no longer have a presence in Hemel Hempstead, and 

also asked if it was known whether Amazon was prepared to subsidies travel to Dunstable for those 

wishing to work at the alternate site. Cllr Williams confirmed that Amazon will have no presence in Hemel 

Hempstead. Amazon do provide a bus from Luton to Hemel Hempstead, but have made no comment about 

the transfer packages, and it isn't known if they will provide or subsidies transport in reverse.  

  

Cllr Symington referred to a previously agreed motion, part of which included a letter to be written to the 

Police and Crime Commissioner for Hertfordshire, and asked, in light of events in the Metropolitan Police 

involving an officer living in Hertfordshire, whether the leader would follow up on this letter and ask what 

actions are being taken to ensure the same thing can never happen in the Hertfordshire Police. Cllr 

Williams agreed to do so.  

  

Actions:  

- Cllr Williams to write to the Police and Crime Commissioner for Hertfordshire regarding preventative 

measures taken or planned.  

 

Cllr Griffiths – Portfolio Holder for Housing 

 

In regard to Housing Services, the Assistant Director for Housing Operations and Safer Communities has 

been appointed and confirmed, and the familiarisation meeting has taken place. The bid for the LGA 

Housing Advisory Fund, consisting of £20,000 to support the progress of temporary accommodation review 

within the HA, has been successful. There is to be a review of homeless out-of-hours services to determine 

value for money and alternative options. New domestic abuse policies have progressed to external 

consultation and committees, with positive feedback on the proposed approach. Successful interventions 

have been undertaken to improve the condition of several town-centre based properties, and there is a 

pending civil penalty action against a local business for breach of regulatory housing standards. Five 

warrants are also pending execution on unlicensed HMOs. Contribution has been made to a collaborative 

activity supporting a partner-led approach to cost-of-living impact for residents, and there has been a 

review of the Allocations Policy income thresholds, which have been increased by 10% to reflect 

affordability pressures for residents. The State Inspection Programme is being progressed, as is the 

housing needs analysis for the support and tenancy sustainment needed, and an updated support model is 

being developed for discussion. A new service charge team leader is due to start in mid-February. Delays 

are being experienced in achieving dates at the County Court for possession hearings, and this issue is 

being raised with the Court. It will have an impact on arrears recovery, and potentially on legal action to 

enforce access to properties. A review of the Warden Alarm contract is progressing through the council's 

Page 6



commissioning board, and the HRA Business Plan is being reviewed, with the financial model being 

updated with the current information and assumptions.  

  

In regard to Housing Strategy and Tenant Engagement, the strategy's internal and external stakeholder 

consultation was completed in November-December, with the draft document on track for the end of 

January or early February. The Prevention of Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy review has 

completed, including stakeholder engagement sessions in December, with a draft due to be shared end of 

January. An Osborne chatbot workshop is being planned in partnership with Osborne for February-March 

to get resident engagement. Delivery options, in-house versus external provider, are currently being 

researched for tenant satisfaction measures and the staff survey. £9 million has been secured from Homes 

England to support the Strategic Housing and Investment Programme, the AD has been appointed and 

confirmed, and handovers and familiarisation have commenced. Helix has been contracted for the St 

Margaret's Way project, and site activity is going well at Paradise, Randall's Ride, Wilstone, five garage 

sites, and Eastwick Row, however contractors have submitted claims for additional costs, citing inflation as 

the cause. The Paradise Depot project is out to tender, however the team are experiencing delays with 

HCC Highways and Flood Authority. The topping out ceremony for Eastwick Row is scheduled for 1st 

February, and a VIP tour of Paradise Fields is scheduled for 31st January. Recruitment for the investment 

team has commenced, with an interview scheduled this week. Cllr Griffiths noted that a virtual members 

briefing session on housing development was scheduled for the following night, and urged members to 

attend.  

  

In regard to Housing Property, there has been a significant increase in damp and mould reports following 

reports in the media. DBC response has been reported to the regulator of social housing, and a 

comprehensive report has been presented to DBC elected members. Improved governance and oversight 

of the Osborne property services have been put in place to drive service improvements for residents, 

however it was noted that it will not be a quick fix. Total asset management recommission will require a 

contract extension to be sure the new methodology and approach is fully informed via proactive 

engagement and comprehensive consultation with all stakeholders. Performance across all six reportable 

areas of compliance remains consistently high. Notably, gas compliance outturn for December was 100%.  

  

Cllr Douris requested the chair's indulgence to hear Cllr Griffiths' report in full. No objection was raised, and 

the chair permitted Cllr Griffiths to continue. Cllr Tindall suggested that the constitution be reviewed to 

introduce written reports from portfolio holders, so that members have the information beforehand and can 

go straight to questions.  

  

Cllr Griffiths concluded that the outcome from the Greener Herts Consortium bid is expected mid-February, 

and will see around a £2 million investment in thermal upgrade improvements for 75 solid brick properties if 

successful. Preparatory work is being undertaken to produce building safety cases for seven in-scope DBC 

buildings for submission and assessment, for interim safety certificates in line with the requirements of the 

Building Safety Act. Phase one of the HTIP, about stability, is closing and informing phase two, about 

engagement, which will lead into phase three, transformation. The new communications plan is being 

pulled together to ensure all stakeholders are informed of the future journey and positive impacts to service.  

  

Cllr Dhyani noted that there had been various emails regarding delays to repairs, and questioned whether 

there was a plan in place to tackle delays from Osborne. Cllr Griffiths reiterated that the situation with 

Osborne's underperformance is not an easy fix, but confirmed that there is an action plan in place, with 

discussions being held, tenants listened to, issues being understood and taken seriously, and a plan 

developed.  

  

Page 7



Cllr Symington requested an update on the situation with regard to housing of refugees and asylum 

seekers in the borough. Cllr Griffiths noted that the use of hotels is being monitored by a separate 

organisation in conjunction with the government, and whilst the council is assisting through welfare and 

education, housing is not currently in its control. Cllr Symington requested further clarification as to whether 

there had been further rehousing since the fourth or fifth house released last year. Cllr Griffiths noted that 

some had moved on, but confirmed that Dacorum had not housed any more.  

 

Cllr Williams – Portfolio Holder Commercial Strategy and Delivery 

 

In regard to Commercial Strategy and Delivery, there were no additional items to report.  

  

Cllr Symington requested an update on the Berkhamsted Leisure Centre upgrade. Cllr Williams noted that 

all options are currently under review.  

 

Cllr Barrett – Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhood Services 

 

In regard to Trees and Woodlands, the HCC free tree giveaway on 3rd December saw Dacorum residents 

collect 1,750 trees for use in their gardens, and is expected to repeat in the next financial year. 24,418 

trees were collected across Hertfordshire as part of a plan to plant 1.8 million trees in the region by 2030. A 

Friends of Chipperfield Common Christmas Tasks event was also held on 17th December to clear holly and 

laurel from woodland areas. Updates are being prepared for Green Flag submissions at Bunkers Park and 

Chipperfield Common, incorporating sand (ph) management into existing plans, and preparations are being 

made to plant an additional 120 standard trees and 2,500 whips over the next three month period.  

  

In regard to Clean, Safe, Green, the Berkhamsted High Street deep clean was completed during 

December, installation of the third batch of 53 replacement street name plates is complete, all old style 

basket bins have been replaced, and replacement goal posts have been received and are ready for 

installation. A new graffiti prevention pilot scheme has also been running since early November, with 260 

instances of graffiti reported via the app directly to team leaders.  

  

In regard to Environmental Projects, Christmas tree recycling day on 8th January was a great success, with 

over 6,000 trees recycled. Local scout groups and St Francis' Hospice participated, offering a collection 

service to residents to assist their fundraising. Chippings were made available for residents to take away, 

and the remainder will be recycled into compost. Over 50 families took place in this year's Love Food, Hate 

Waste challenge, with 92% saying the challenge helped them reduce food waste in their household. Those 

completing the pre- and post-challenge surveys were entered into a prize draw for a food blender, with the 

winner randomly selected. Promotion of the Garden Waste Subscription Service has taken a considerable 

time. Leaflets have been designed, and will be distributed to all existing customers from week commencing 

9th January, vehicle artwork has been designed and installed on all green waste vehicles, and website 

updates (ph) and FAQs have been uploaded on the website. As of 4:00pm today, 6,275 residents have 

signed up to the new paid service, an increase of 3.46% from the same time yesterday, and is 41.83% of 

the expected minimum number of applicants, which demonstrates the success of the initiative.  

  

In regard to Parks and Open Spaces, the butterfly chalk bank at Warners End has been successfully 

completed, and several new benches have been installed at Dolphin Square in Tring. The Bring site at 

Grovehill has been removed, a number of picnic benches and a new planter installed, and daffodil bulbs 

planted. Work on Nash Mills continues, involving the installation of wildflower turf and bulbs, a planter, 

several benches, bee houses, and signage.  

  

Page 8



In regard to Waste Services, Christmas services all went according to plan, with schedules returning to 

normal as anticipated, and schedules for Easter and beyond now being planned. Previously budgeted 

refurbishment works have commenced at Cupid Green. A Long Service award service was also held at the 

depot and well received. Christmas tree recycling events were facilitated at Cupid Green, Berkhamsted, 

and Tring. Annual staff training has commenced, and will continue throughout January and February.  

  

Cllr Tindall noted that the county is proposing a change to the arrangements for recycling across the ten 

districts, and wondered whether concerns regarding the impact on the borough had been brought to the 

attention of the portfolio holder, and if so, whether any decisions or actions had been taken. Cllr Barrett 

confirmed that the issue had not been brought to his attention, and so nothing had been discussed.  

  

Cllr Freedman noted that protection of whips has previously been identified as challenging, and that there 

have also been high profile cases of mature trees not being protected, and wondered whether anything was 

being reviewed with the planning team to better protect established trees. Cllr Barrett explained that 

currently the local plan has to be followed, but this is something under consideration that will hopefully be 

incorporated.  

  

Cllr Guest asked whether the chalk bank established at Warners End will contribute to an increase in 

biodiversity and the council's response to the climate emergency declared in 2019. Cllr Barrett confirmed 

that it will.  

  

Cllr England wondered whether increasing the capacity of replaced bins was considered, possibly by 

increasing the number of bins in some locations. Cllr Barrett encouraged all councillors to report locations 

with overflowing bins for him to pursue with the service. Cllr England noted that previously such an increase 

was said not to be possible when reports were made, and that Chipperfield Common has doubled up bins, 

but Adeyfield Queen's Square does not. Cllr England further requested an update on how many Street 

Champions have registered, and how many have collected their equipment.  

  

Cllr Barry-Mears noted that 6,275 residents is under 10% of 2011 households, and wondered if this was a 

good figure for the green bin sign-up. Cllr Barrett noted that not all of the 2011 households have green bins, 

and they are working to a target of 15,000 which excludes flats and other households without green bins, 

so the percentage so far is excellent.  

  

The chair noted that Lawn Lane is also in need of extra bins.  

  

Actions:  

- Cllr Barrett to update all councillors regarding the impact of county-proposed changes to recycling 

arrangements, once details are known.  

- Cllr Barrett to provide Street Champions update to Cllr England.  

 

Cllr Banks – Portfolio Holder Communities 

 

In regard to Communities, the Dacorum Crime and Disorder Strategic Assessment has been completed, 

helping to deliver the priorities for 2023 to 2026 for the Dacorum Community Safety partnership, which 

includes Dacorum Borough Council, Hertfordshire County Council, police, fire, probation, and health 

colleagues. Priorities are likely to include how issues like domestic abuse, serious violence, youth justice, 

exploitation, and preventing extremism and radicalisation are dealt with and implemented. It will also 

include how to ensure community resistance to crime is built through crime prevention initiatives. The 

Community Trigger is a tool that allows a review to be requested if the response to a report of antisocial 

Page 9



behaviour is unsatisfactory. It can involve police, local health providers, and providers of social housing, all 

of whom have a duty to complete a case review when such a request is made.  

  

In regard to Adventure Playgrounds, funding was secured from the Building Life Chances grant to install a 

shelter at Bennetts End, and from the Sports Together fund to support a twelve week youth sports 

programme. Children at adventure playground are progressing work to become a hygiene hub, which will 

produce hygiene product packs for young people from low-income families, and in December the Grovehill 

adventure playground saw around 100 people attend a Special Education Needs information event, giving 

information to parents, carers, and professionals in the SEN sector.  

  

In regard to Environmental Enforcement, the team has been shortlisted for the Excellence in Enforcement 

Award from Keep Britain Tidy, for work in partnership with district enforcement to address littering across 

Dacorum. The award recognises individuals or teams seen to excel in environmental crime enforcement for 

their organisation, and acknowledges those that are passionate about the work they do, and the results 

they achieve.  

  

In regard to Community Grants, in December 2022 grants of just under £8,500 were awarded to local 

voluntary organisations, and five smaller grants were issued for projects aimed at supporting community 

activities.  

  

In regard to the Cost of Living Crisis, the council is committed to ongoing partnership activities to support all 

impacted residents, and is working with the voluntary sector to ensure activities and support is targeted and 

not duplicated. An action plan has been developed, including detailed communication plans to ensure 

residents are aware of the available support. Dacorum Life and the council website have been refreshed, 

with the latter having an interactive map showing where support such as warm spaces and food banks are 

available across the borough.  

  

Cllr England noted that DEFRA figures on Dacorum air quality, with significant findings, were sent back to 

DBC in July 2022, and that air quality could have been looked at in November if the portfolio holder, or the 

chair of scrutiny at SPAE, if aware, had made it a priority earlier. Cllr Banks agreed that some figures had 

been released from DEFRA, but that staff absence and vacant posts had delayed the report, and it is due 

next month at SPAE. Cllr England further wondered whether the portfolio holder remembered informing him 

on 3rd November that the report was waiting on an update from DEFRA, writing, 'Indeed, it has been an 

extraordinarily long time since the air quality steering group met with members. I understand, as you 

outlined below, officers are waiting on an update from DEFRA, ratifying our data. I'm sure you will agree, 

presenting an incomplete report does not benefit anyone.' Cllr Banks agreed that she had written that, and 

was still hopeful to receive confirmation from DEFRA that the Northchurch air quality management could be 

withdrawn due to the improvement of air quality there, which would then be brought to scrutiny.  

  

Cllr Freedman noted that some venues with popular artists had experienced difficulties dealing with larger 

events, and wondered if it was on the agenda to look at the provision of an arts and performing space 

within the borough. Cllr Banks stated that it was not currently on the agenda, but if partners who wanted to 

deliver such a facility were identified, it would be welcomed.  

  

Cllr Guest wondered if it was agreed that Christmas light switch-on events bring people together and 

helped to build community spirit. Cllr Banks agreed that they did, and had been a huge success this year, 

particularly following lockdowns, and noted that they showed the council's commitment to community 

engagement.  

  

Page 10



Cllr Harden asked for clarification on where the map for resources such as warm spaces could be found. 

Cllr Banks reiterated that these are available on the Hertfordshire County Council website, under Cost of 

Living on the DBC website, and that there are also national websites that locate resources based on 

postcode, and encouraged members to share information with residents.  

  

Cllr Tindall wondered how the information was being distributed to the 15% not on the internet. Cllr Banks 

noted that the information has been included in the Dacorum Life, and that downloadable posters on the 

council websites are being used by the community centre network. Community Action Dacorum have also 

issued a number of leaflets to promote away from social media and website correspondence, and Cllr 

Griffiths confirmed that drivers have been issued these to pass to their passengers.  

  

Actions:  

- Cllr Banks to convey thanks and appreciation to colleagues in the voluntary sector.  

 

Cllr Anderson – Portfolio Holder Place 

 

In regard to Place, planning permission for Marshcroft, a proposal to build 1,400 houses to the north-east of 

Tring, has been refused. The appeal starts on 7th March, and is expected to last 16 days. Following the 

lifting of the moratorium, the council has started considering its first housing scheme since, and working 

through the backlog. Cllr Anderson noted that the proposal to adopt the Kings Langley neighbourhood plan 

is later on the agenda, and is the second such plan to be approved after Grovehill. The plans enable local 

communities to have more say on the design of developments in their area, and to keep more community 

infrastructure levy funding. Abingdon is also currently working through the process.  

  

In regard to Economic Development, the business improvement district in the centre of Hemel has been 

confirmed for another five years following a successful ballot. The council's economic recovery plan 

continues, and the government has advised that the UK Share Prosperity Fund funding has been 

confirmed, expected in April. The team have also been in overdrive in regard to the situation with Amazon, 

and helping those affected.  

  

In regard to Hemel Place, the Think Hemel consultation has closed, and the results are being analysed. 

Unfortunately the independent chair, Andrew Percival, is moving abroad, and will be replaced by Bob Lane, 

who is also the independent chair of the Hemel Garden Communities Board. The Thinking Place steering 

group for Tring is progressing well. Berkhamsted isn't as advanced, but work is continuing.  

  

In regard to Hemel Hempstead Old Town strategy, phase two of planters and other public realm 

improvements are continuing.  

  

In regard to Hemel Gardens Community, next week's board meeting will consider the framework plan and 

associated documents to keep the project going.  

  

In regard to Commercial Assets, performance is still strong, with occupancy above 95% and income 8% 

above budget. The council is taking a constructive approach to debtors, running at about 18% debt, and 

braced in case the situation worsens. Cllr Anderson noted that this will be transferring to Cllr Williams going 

forward.  

  

In regard to Poppy Fields Cemetery, drainage remedial work is complete, and the Environment Agency has 

started to determine the drainage application, but better weather is needed before laying the tarmac for the 

car park.  

  

Page 11



Cllr Anderson noted that Housing Development has transferred to Cllr Griffiths.  

  

Cllr England wondered if the Michael McIntyre episode would give the council more confidence to 

reconsider plans for a new arts venue in Hemel. Cllr Anderson noted that, whilst a demonstration of making 

the best of what's available, it did not provide additional resources for a new venue. Cllr England further 

wondered what conversations had been had with residents groups about engaging with residents to try and 

make the resources possible. Cllr Anderson noted that it was straying into Cllr Banks' portfolio, but that 

early indicators from the Think Hemel exercise showed a performing arts venue as very low on people's 

agendas compared to the desire for green and open spaces.  

 

Cllr Elliot – Portfolio Holder Corporate Services 

 

In regard to Finance, the team has been extremely busy since November, firstly in the preparation and 

delivery of the council's draft 23-24 budget scrutiny papers in December, and currently in preparation for 

the February scrutiny and cabinet budget papers. Provisional local government finance settlement was 

released by DLUHC prior to Christmas, and has provided additional short-term funding for Dacorum in 

2023 that will be detailed at the next budget scrutiny session. The team successfully published the final 

audited accounts for 21-22 at the end of November, in line with government requirements, and once again 

outperforming the vast majority of local authorities. The team continues to work close with the Place and 

Commercial teams on the development of a Place strategy, and a Commercial full business case, to 

develop the basis of the council's future strategy.  

  

In regard to Revenue and Benefits, the Council Tax, Business Rates, and Benefits team continues with the 

important work of administering residents and businesses' accounts, ensuring information is kept up to 

date. They are also preparing for the annual process to update benefit awards, and send out next year's 

business rates and council tax bills in March. This includes the first full revaluation of business rates since 

2017, with the valuation office reviewing rateable values of every commercial property throughout England 

and Wales. The 2023 business rates revaluation has resulted in an average increase in business rates in 

Dacorum of 27.9% prior to transitional arrangements, and increased queries are expected as a result. The 

revenue service is awaiting government policy and processes detailing additional energy support schemes 

due to be implemented imminently, and the council will respond to these policies accordingly.  

  

In regard to Legal and Democratic services, the legal team continues to support the core council service 

delivery and key corporate strategies to support the statutory and registered frameworks in place. The 

elections team completed the annual canvas for 2022, and the revised electoral register was published on 

1st December. The final response rate was 94%, and the distribution of the register has been completed. 

The licensing team continues to monitor compliance with taxi licensing requirements, and had cause to 

revoke one licence due to alleged misconduct. The revocation was challenged at Magistrates Court, but the 

council successfully defended the decision, and the appeal was dismissed. There were no major issues 

relating to the operation of licensed premises over the Christmas and New Year season.  

  

In regard to People and Transformation, good progress is being made, with new digital people and 

communication strategies agreed by cabinet and moved to implementation, marking an important step 

forward for transformation ambitions. The digital and comms team have been heavily involved in the 

successful design and launch of the Garden Waste Subscription Service, which went live on 4th January, 

and continue to drive investment in filming in Dacorum. On Friday 23rd December, Dacorum featured in the 

Christmas special of the second series of the hit BBC comedy, The Cleaner, with locations including 

Berkhamsted, Boxmoor, the Market Square, Warners End, and the Forum. On New Year's Day, Sky 

screened a comedy drama, Romantic Getaway, which featured various locations around Hemel 

Hempstead, and Dacorum also played a starring role in the premier of festive rom-com This Is Christmas 

Page 12



on Sky Cinema. Work on recruitment and retention continues apace, with a number of successful 

appointees due to start with the council imminently. A market force policy will be brought to scrutiny in 

February, with a view to enable faster responses to an ever changing jobs market.  

  

Cllr Symington wondered what plans were for the £17 million of CIL money, in terms of spending and 

spending priorities. Cllr Elliot noted that discussions were ongoing, and papers would be at the next 

scrutiny committee.  

  

Cllr Pringle wondered whether there were any statistics for incidents or allegations of voter fraud in the in-

person casting of ballots in previous elections in Dacorum. Cllr Elliot noted that voter ID was being brought 

in to stop fraud, but that some councils who had piloted the scheme had found turnout dropped by as much 

as a third and so the need for photo ID was being publicised accordingly, along with the information that the 

government website provides a means of getting photo ID in the absence of a driving licence or passport. 

Cllr Elliot noted that voter fraud statistics were not his area, and so he did not have that information to hand. 

Cllr Pringle wondered what would happen if someone's passport was out of date, and also expressed 

concern at the apparent lack of evidence supporting the policy, and consequently whether it should be 

protested as a White Elephant. Cllr Elliot confirmed that out of date passports can be used, noting that the 

decision had been made at a national level and statistics are not held locally, and reiterated that ID can be 

requested very quickly, for free, online.  

  

Cllr Tindall wondered whether any decisions had been made regarding additional information being 

provided to households, such as the available cost of living support measures, along with the council tax 

revaluation, as this would ensure all households had received the information. Cllr Elliot noted that the 

information was in Dacorum Life, but would look into the idea.  

  

Cllr Freedman wondered if Cllr Elliot would like to refer Cllr Pringle's question to the Leader of the Council, 

as he had previously provided information on voter fraud in the 2019 general election, and 2018 borough 

election. Cllr Williams noted that he couldn't recall the email in question, but expressed the view that a lot of 

voter fraud would only be detected if the presiding officer knew the individual in question, and was therefore 

in support of voter ID.  

  

Cllr England noted that the alternative funding model for waste services, totaling £7 million across 

Hertfordshire, was withdrawn, and wondered what DBC's approximate share of the lost funding was. Cllr 

Elliot gave an uncertain estimate of £200,000 and agreed to follow up with the precise amount.  

  

Cllr Hollinghurst wondered what percentage of voters in the borough did not have passports, and what 

percentage did not have driving licences. Cllr Elliot reiterated that the level of voter fraud was not known, 

and that it only took 3 minutes on the government website to apply for free ID. Cllr Hollinghurst noted that it 

could be done at the polling station.  

  

Actions:  

- Cllr Elliot to look into potentially including additional information with the council tax revaluation 

information for households.  

- Cllr Elliot to follow up with Cllr England regarding DBC's share of the withdrawn alternative funding model 

for waste services.  

 

5. Motions  

 

5.1. MOTION ONE Proposed by Councillor Sheron Wilkie 

 

Page 13



The survey conducted by Landman Economics for TUC was widely reported in November. Highlights show 

that key worker poverty is rising, and child poverty has risen in key worker households, with 19% having 

children living in poverty. 9.4% of children with nurses as parents, over 70,000 children. 10.8% of children 

with teaching staff as parents, around 100,000 children. 11.8% of children with local government workers 

as parents, over 220,000 children. 25% of children with public transport workers as parents, 50,000 

children. Within this context, this council (a) notes with concern that there is evidence some families are 

struggling in the current cost of living crisis, (b) acknowledges the extensive support through various 

government schemes that has benefited some lower-income households, (c) welcomes the largest ever 

increase in the national living rate wage of 9.7% from April, (d) recognises the work being undertaken by 

officers of the council with its voluntary and community partners to coordinate a local response to the crisis, 

(e) recognises that the cost of living project group is leading this activity in Dacorum and working closely 

with county colleagues, (f) supports the county council to ensure all children of school age have access to 

at least one nutritious meal a day.  

  

Moved by Cllr Wilkie, seconded by Cllr Williams.  

  

Cllr Harden raised a minor point of etiquette, and wondered if 'kids' could be converted to 'children' 

throughout. Cllr Wilkie was happy to make this amendment.  

  

Cllr Griffiths noted that the issue is not just a public services one.  

  

Cllr England noted that nurses, ambulance workers, train workers, and retail workers should be paid 

properly, and the cost of living crisis is a result of not doing so.  

  

Cllr Peter suggested an amendment from 'poverty' to 'relative poverty' to keep things in perspective, and 

suggested not doing so was disrespectful to less fortunate individuals in second, third, and fourth-world 

countries. Cllr Barry-Mears noted that the UK has seen the death of a child from mould, and objected to the 

suggested amendment.  

  

Cllr Williams noted that food banks are not new, and the support given by the government over the past 2.5 

years has impacted national finances, leading to difficult decisions about where what money there is, is 

spent. Cllr Freedman agreed that food banks are not new, but noted that in-work poverty is.  

  

Cllr Wilkie summarised that the figures are appalling and no one is happy about them, which is why 

everyone is there.  

  

Motion carried unanimously.  

 

5.2 MOTION TWO Proposed by Councillor Adrian England 

 

This council notes that Dacorum council is on track for 60% recycling by 2030, which is 4th in Hertfordshire. 

This council asks the council to set out an ambitious plan to increase the recycling percentage target by 2% 

each year to reach the Hertfordshire Waste Partnership target for 2030.  

  

Moved by Cllr England, seconded by Cllr Freedman.  

  

Cllr England noted a drafting error, and Cllr Tindall made a proposal to amend the motion wording, 

'Hertfordshire Waste Partnership target for 2030' to be amended to 'Central Government target for 2035.'  

  

Moved by Cllr Tindall, seconded by Cllr Freedman.  

Page 14



  

The Chair asked for those wishing to speak to the amended motion.  

  

Cllr Barrett noted that DBC has had the fastest growing recycling rates in Hertfordshire over the last 

decade, and rates are expected to continue to improve through engagement and events. As government is 

currently proposing changes to the Environmental Act 2021, which could require a major redesign of waste 

collection services, and the borough doesn't have a 2035 target, which would need to be moved through 

council under the normal process, it was suggested that it was not appropriate to consider the motion as 

amended. Cllr Harden agreed that if the council was on track for its 2030 target, the need for the motion 

seemed unclear.  

  

Cllr England explained that in council in November a reference was made to a 65% recycling target, which 

was believed at the time to be a Hertfordshire Waste Partnership target, and was used in the draft of the 

motion at question. However, further research found only a 65% target from central government, the link to 

which has been circulated. It was noted that the amendment was to clarify which target was being 

considered for adoption. Cllr Freedman agreed that the function of the motion was not being changed, only 

the reference to the target's origin, and why it was felt to be achievable. It was reiterated that DBC would 

only be committed to an increased target for 2030.  

  

Cllr Douris interrupted with a point of order, and requested the entirety of the actual proposed motion be 

read.  

  

The Chair put the motion to approve the amendment to vote. Motion failed, with 16 votes in favour, 28 

votes against, and 1 abstention.  

  

The Chair asked for those wishing to speak to the original motion.  

  

Cllr Wilkie noted that the motion recognises what has been achieved, and that ambition is still needed. Cllr 

Williams objected that the motion merely reiterated council policy. A point of order was raised, and it was 

noted that making personal remarks is not appropriate. Cllr Barry-Mears noted that the amendment was for 

the target to be adjusted, and therefore wouldn't have been a reiteration.  

  

Cllr Stevens noted that evidence showed the recycling rate had stalled around 52% in the past few years, 

and the proposal was to set up a trajectory to reach 60% or 65%, as while a policy might exist, progress 

was not being made, so the motion was to reinforce the message. Cllr England apologised for the 

confusion, and agreed that progress had stalled and no longer seemed sufficient to reach 60% by 2030.  

  

The Chair put the original motion to vote. Motion failed, with 15 votes in favour, 27 votes against, and 2 

abstentions.  

 

5.3 MOTION THREE Proposed by Councillor Adrian England 

 

This council notes that just 17.8% of the funds available to residents in England and Wales for heat pump 

source grants have been claimed in the first three quarters of the life of the scheme. It is further noted that 

the value of the grants, at £5,000 each, would appear to be a deterrent to applicants in England and Wales. 

The council asks the portfolio holder to write to the government to ask for an improved and enhanced 

scheme, which will match the Scotland offer of £7,500 to £9,000 grants.  

  

Moved by Cllr England, seconded by Cllr Williams.  

  

Page 15



Cllr Stevens noted that it was an opportunity to reaffirm a commitment to cutting carbon emissions, and 

referred to a retrofit academy initiative in Manchester, sponsored by the building industry, suggesting that 

the borough may wish to take a similar lead on developing potential in this area.  

  

Cllr Williams noted that grant availability might not be holding people back, but that bigger grants may make 

people move forward, despite varying experiences of heat pump efficiency.  

  

Cllr England noted that the UK has historically lagged behind heat pump adoption compared to other 

countries, and that policy will play a crucial role in accelerating UK heat pump progress. In addition, the 

flagship boiler upgrade scheme has just over two years left to achieve its target, but only 17.81% of its year 

one funding has been spent after nine months, indicating a raise in public profile is needed, perhaps using 

similar methods as those used to promote the Green Homes grant. Cllr England noted that, by agreement, 

the interest free loan has been removed from the motion.  

  

Motion carried unanimously 

 

6. Written Questions  

 

6.1 From Councillor Sally Symington to Councillor Margaret Griffiths 

 

Cllr Symington wondered how many properties within Dacorum's council-owned housing portfolio had an 

up-to-date EPC rating. Cllr Griffiths confirmed that DBS had 1,577 checked and verified EPC certificates. 

Cllr Symington further wondered how many of that 15% had an ABC rating. Cllr Griffiths noted that she 

didn't have those figures to hand. Cllr Symington additionally wondered how many properties were due to 

be retrofitted to improve the insulation, or if there was no policy to do that. Cllr Griffiths confirmed there is a 

policy for retrofitting, and noted that the EPC is not required unless selling, but will be included as part of 

the Whole Home surveys starting in April.  

 

6.2 From Councillor Sally Symington to Councillor Margaret Griffiths 

 

Cllr Symington wondered how many reports of empty homes the council had received in the last three 

years. Cllr Griffiths noted that 19 to 20 homes had been reported date, via 33 complaints from the general 

public. Cllr Symington wondered what level of confidence Cllr Griffiths had in the reporting system, and 

noted that residents who had reported empty properties were also reporting a lack of response to those 

reports. Cllr Griffiths stated that she had 100% confidence in the process, and noted that the website had 

been upgraded in the last year, encouraging people to report, with one specific case that was missed being 

an ongoing case at the time. Cllr Symington additionally noted that Action on Empty Homes had identified 

659 empty homes in Dacorum, and wondered what the cause of the discrepancy was. Cllr Griffiths noted 

that she had not seen this information, and that the legal definition of empty is being used, that is, 

properties that can be evidenced to have been empty for two years.  

  

Cllr Symington observed that cutting out question preamble leaves the portfolio holder without context, and 

unable to answer questions. Cllr Griffiths noted that the preamble information could have been sent 

beforehand. Cllr Symington confirmed that it had been submitted to the legal department, and suggested a 

revision to procedure.  

  

Actions:  

- Procedure to be revised, with question preamble sent to both the legal department and the portfolio holder 

prior to the meeting.  

 

Page 16



6.3 From Councillor Sally Symington to Councillor Andrew Williams 

 

Cllr Symington noted that Dacorum only has one quarter the national average of public electric vehicle 

charge points, and wondered what actions Cllr Williams was taking to accelerate the installation of such 

devices across the borough's public car parks, and ensure their availability for residents without off-street 

parking. Cllr Williams noted the same question comes up frequently at scrutiny committees, and explained 

that the decision to work with two companies had been made in May 2022, leading to a funding submission 

at the end of October, with the expectation that a decision would be received in December, however the 

Energy Saving Trust had received a significant number of applications, and had not yet given an answer to 

the application, causing the delay. It was further noted that on street chargers were a matter for the 

Highway Authority, and any such schemes should be self-funding. Cllr Symington wondered when the 

project had gone from the two companies providing the finance in return for a long lease, to a project 

requiring grant funding. Cllr Williams agreed that the rapid chargers are being self-funded, but noted that 

the fast chargers had always been on the understanding that grant funding was available.  

 

7. Business from Previous Council Meeting  

 

None 

 

8. Cabinet Referrals 

 

CA/109/22 Kings Langley neighbourhood plan  

 

Cllr Williams moved. Cllr Griffiths seconded.  

 

Agreed by the Council 

 

CA/110/22 Treasury management, the results recommended  

 

Cllr Williams moved. Cllr Griffiths seconded.  

 

Agreed by the Council 

 

 

9 Cabinet Referrals, Overview and Scrutiny Referrals  

 

No referrals.  

 

10. Changes to Committee  

 

No changes to committee membership.  

 

11. Changes to Committee Dates  

 

Cllr Williams noted that the annual council was originally on Wednesday 10th May after the elections, but 

this has been moved to Wednesday 17th May.  

 

The chair declared the meeting closed at 9:59.  

 

Page 17



FULL COUNCIL -  JANUARY 

ACTION POINTS FOR PORTFOLIO HOLDERS 

 

Date of 
meeting 

Action point PH 
responsible 
for action 

Response / Investigation Ongoing 

18 Jan Cllr Symington referred to a previously agreed motion, part 
of which included a letter to be written to the Police and 
Crime Commissioner for Hertfordshire, and asked, in light of 
events in the Metropolitan Police involving an officer living in 
Hertfordshire, whether the leader would follow up on this 
letter and ask what actions are being taken to ensure the 
same thing can never happen in the Hertfordshire Police. 
Cllr Williams agreed to do so 

Cllr Williams to write to the Police and Crime Commissioner 
for Hertfordshire regarding preventative measures taken or 
planned. 

Cllr Williams Ongoing.  

18 Jan  Cllr Tindall noted that the county is proposing a change to 
the arrangements for recycling across the ten districts, and 
wondered whether concerns regarding the impact on the 
borough had been brought to the attention of the portfolio 
holder, and if so, whether any decisions or actions had been 
taken. Cllr Barrett confirmed that the issue had not been 
brought to his attention, and so nothing had been discussed. 
 
-Cllr Barrett to update all councillors regarding the impact of 

county-proposed changes to recycling arrangements, once 

details are known.  

Cllr Barratt Response will be sent once details are known. 

P
age 18

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

18 Jan Cllr England further requested an update on how many 
Street Champions have registered, and how many have 
collected their equipment. 
 
Cllr Barrett to provide Street Champions update to Cllr 
England. 

Cllr Barratt Cllr Barratt sent response on 24 Jan 2023 
 
Response: 
I can advise that as of today we have 1009 registered 
Street Champions, of whom 639 have collected 
equipment. 
 

18 Jan  Cllr Symington observed that cutting out question preamble 
leaves the portfolio holder without context, and unable to 
answer questions. Cllr Griffiths noted that the preamble 
information could have been sent beforehand. Cllr 
Symington confirmed that it had been submitted to the legal 
department, and suggested a revision to procedure as 
follows: 
 
Procedure to be revised, with question preamble sent to 
both the legal department and the portfolio holder prior to 
the meeting. 

Cllr Willliams Cllr Williams to review suggestion with legal. 

 . 
 

  

 

P
age 19



Cabinet Referrals  

Meeting of 24th January 2023 

7.1 CA/08/23 COMMITTEE TIMETABLE 
 
Decision 

That Cabinet recommends Council approve the Committee Timetable for 2023/24 as set out in 

Appendix A to this report. 

Corporate Priorities  

The various meetings of the Council, Cabinet and Committees support the achievement of all the 

Council’s Corporate Objectives; 

A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 

Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those most in need 

Statutory Officer Comments: 

Monitoring Officer: 
 
This is a Monitoring Officer report. 
 
S151 Officer: 
 
No further comments to add. 
 
Advice 

Mark Brookes introduced the report and was happy to take questions. 

Cllr Griffiths asked why we have a Full Council in January and February and suggests that they delete 

the January meeting, as it seemed to be a waste of resources, she understood why there was one in 

February for the budget agreement. 

Cllr Williams asked if it was in the constitution to have a set number of Council Meetings. 

Mark Brookes said it was not in the constitution it was more of an historical number and it was a 

decision for the members to make if they wished to remove one.  

Cllr Griffiths said that her recommendation would be to remove the January Council.  

Cllr Williams said that the February Council may be planned too early as it is on the 14
th
, this maybe 

before the County Council sets their budget. 

Cllr Williams suggested that they have the Council in February at the end of February and switch it 

with the Cabinet meeting at the end of February 2024. 

Mark Brookes said that they could take that away and re-do the dates. 

The following changes were agreed. 

Page 20

Agenda Item 7



Cabinet and Licensing moved from the 27th Feb to the 13th Feb  

Council Moved from the 14th Feb to 28th Feb 

Audit moved from 28th to the 14th to allow for Council  

Group meetings moved to 27th Feb 

Recommendations agreed 

7.2 CA/09/23 TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

Decision 

That Cabinet recommends to Council acceptance of the report on Treasury Management 

performance for 2022/23. 

Corporate Priorities  

A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 

Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those most in need 

Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery 

Climate and ecological emergency 

 
Statutory Officer Comments: 

Monitoring Officer: 
 
No comments to add to the report. 
 
Deputy S151 Officer: 
 
This is a Deputy S151 Officer report. Comments are contained within the body of the report 
 
 
Advice 

Cllr Elliot introduced the report noting that it was straightforward as usual however; the economic 

update was a little out of date when it went at the end of September. He said that the main thing was 

that after this report there was a repayment of £10.5 million pounds of debt, they had a £600k 

discount on the capital among which saved them a net £200k in interest per year. He passed his 

thanks to the finance team for working very speedily and delivering on it.  He was happy to take 

questions. 

N Howcutt added that as of next year, the guidelines would slightly change with Treasury 

Management and they would be getting Treasury Management information quarterly as well as the 

quarterly financial reports as well as the mid-year and end of year requirements. They will see a bit 

more information, which would make it less foreign, a little more digestible than it had been 

historically.  

 Recommendations agreed 

 

Page 21



Meeting of 14th February 2023 

7.3 CA/18/23  QUARTER 3 FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2022-23 

Decision 

1. Cabinet noted the revenue financial outturn position for the General Fund and Housing 
Revenue account as forecast at Quarter 3. 

2. Cabinet RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL the following revenue reserve 
movements: 

a. To draw down from General Fund revenues reserves as follows: 
- £0.719m from the Pensions Reserve to cover the cost of the 2022/23 pay 

award. 
- £0.284m from the Inflationary Pressures service to cover fuel costs. 
- £0.657m from the Dacorum Development Reserve between 2023/24 -

2025/26; (£0.303m in 2023/2024, £0.314m 2024/2025 and £0.04m in 
25/26) to fund the Place Communities and Infrastructure restructure. 

b. To transfer to General Fund revenue reserves as follows: 
- £0.300m to be transferred to a newly created Leisure Reserve. 

3. Cabinet RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL that the forecast Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) deficit of £4.113m be supported by a draw down from HRA revenue reserves 
of £0.830m. The balance of the deficit will be met by a reduction in revenue contributions to 
the HRA capital programme. 

4. Cabinet noted the Council’s capital programme is forecast on budget, with additional slippage 
of £2.009m on General Fund schemes and 

 
Corporate Priorities  
 
A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 
Building strong and vibrant communities 
Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 
Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those most in need 
Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery 
Climate and ecological emergency 
 
Statutory Officer Comments: 
 
Monitoring Officer: 
 
This report forms part of the Council’s governance arrangements and provides an overview of the 
current financial position for member’s review and approval. 
 
Deputy S151 Officer: 
 
This is a Deputy s151 Officer report. 
 
Advice  
 
Cllr Elliot introduced the item and the recommendations as set out in the report.  
 
There were no questions.  

 

7.4 CA/20/23 BUDGET REPORT 

Decision 

Cabinet RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL to; 
 
General Fund Revenue Estimate; 

Page 22



 
1. Set a Dacorum Borough Council General Fund Council Tax requirement of £13.341m, and a 

provisional amount of £14.574m for the combined Borough Council and Parish Councils’ 
requirement for 2023/24; 

2. Approve a Band D Council Tax increase of £6.27 (2.9%) for Dacorum Borough Council; 
3. Approve the base estimates for 2023/24, as shown in Appendix A1, and the indicative budget 

forecasts for 2023/24 – 2026/27, as shown in Appendix A2; 
4. Approve the forecast balances of Revenue Reserves as shown in Appendix J, and approve 

section 11 of this report as the updated Reserves Strategy; 
5. Approve increases in Fees and Charges for 2023/24 as set out in Appendices C3, D3, and 

E3; 
6. Approve and adopt the Treasury Management Strategy for 2023/24, attached at Appendix K; 
7. Approve and adopt the Capital Strategy for 2023/24, attached at Appendix L; 
8. Note that this budget paper, if approved by Council, will form part of the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy. 
 
Capital Programme; 
 

9. Approve the Capital Programme for 2023/24 to 2027/28, as detailed in Appendix I; 
10. Approve the financing proposals in Appendix I subject to an annual review of the financing 

options by the Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance and 
Resources, during the preparation of the Statement of Accounts. 

 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA); 
 

11. Set dwelling rents according to the new DLUHC guidance, which provides for a rent increase 
of 7%. The average dwelling rent is proposed to be £118.62 in 2023/24 (based on 52 weeks); 

12. Approve the HRA budget for 2023/24 as shown in Appendix F.  
 
Employer Terms and Conditions; 
 

13. Note that the hourly rate of all Council employees continues to exceed the rate proposed by 
the rates of the Living Wage Foundation, for 2023/24 (to be reviewed annually thereafter). 

 
Statement by Chief Finance Officer; 
 

14. Approve the statement by the Chief Finance Officer regarding the robustness of the budget 
estimates and level of reserves as set out in Appendix M. 

 

Corporate Priorities  

A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 
Building strong and vibrant communities 
Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 
Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those most in need 
Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery 
Climate and ecological emergency 
 
Statutory Officer Comments: 

Monitoring Officer: 
 
In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, it is the responsibility of the Cabinet to agree proposals 
for the Budget, and to present those proposals to the full Council for approval. Once full Council 
approve the Budget it is the responsibility of Cabinet to implement it. 
 
S151 Officer: 
 
This is a s151 Officer report. 

Page 23



 
Advice 

Cllr Elliot introduced the report as set out in the agenda. 

NHowcutt advised this has been many months of planning for our budget for next year and has been 

considered by Overview & Scrutiny; this is the outcome of the hard work of both officers & Members.  

Provides a balanced and robust budget which is deliverable.   

There were no questions 

RECOMMENDATIONS AGREED 

7.5 CA/24/23 RELEASE OF COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY CORE FUNDS 

Decision 

Cabinet RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL to; 
 

1. Approve the release of 20% (£3,027,519) of CIL core funds collected to the end of financial 
year 2021/22 and allocate this towards the delivery of priority infrastructure projects in 
advance of the Local Plan; 

2. Approve the proposed revised framework for assessing projects, including the amended 
Terms of Reference of the Infrastructure Advisory Group detailed in the report. 

 

Cabinet agreed; 

3. The recommendations of the Infrastructure Advisory Group on the first round of projects set 
out in section 5 of the report and determines which, if any, projects should receive Core CIL 
funding. 
 

Corporate Priorities  

A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 
Building strong and vibrant communities 
Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 
Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those most in need 
Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery 
Climate and ecological emergency 
 
Statutory Officer Comments: 

Monitoring Officer: 
 
Effective governance procedures are essential to ensure that CIL funds can be allocated to 
appropriate infrastructure in a timely and efficient manner and that spend is properly monitored. The 
previous governance framework was agreed by Council in January 2017 on recommendation of 
Cabinet and therefore a Council decision is required to amend the framework and approve the current 
projects set out in section 5. 
 
If the new framework is agreed, future spending decisions will be able to be made by Cabinet without 
referral to Council. 
 
S151 Officer: 
 
The proposal to allocate core CIL to support local infrastructure requirements is in line with the core 
principle of CIL. The decision to allocate a small percentage of CIL collected up to the end of 21/22 
reflects the length of delay in the development of the current local plan, and the IAG governance will 
assess each project bid against the core Infrastructure development requirements with a strong 

Page 24



reflection on the proportion of investment in each geographical settlement area, to reflect 
infrastructure requirements and wider population need. 
 
Advice 

Cllr Anderson introduced the report, advising that IAG met recently and suggested we make some 

changes to the recommendations, to take forward 1 of the playground schemes, rather than both, as 

both constitute £1.3m which is a large sum relative to the amount we are looking to release.  Also feel 

strongly that we need to signal our intention to support the scheme to works at Long Marston Village 

Hall.  The IAG recommendation was that more detail was required as part of the Long Marston bid; 

would ask Cabinet colleagues to show our intention of support to Long Marston in them doing so. 

Cllr Barrett commented that it would be useful to know what playgrounds are being proposed.  Could 

that information please be provided? 

Cllr Anderson commented that officer resource would be required to deliver the playground project. 

CHamilton commented that the principal of needing resource to deliver projects is a reasonable one, 

suggesting this could this come back to the relevant Portfolio Holder for sign off before it moves 

forward. 

Cllr Williams suggested agreement to the schemes in this first phase, with further discussion between 

Portfolio Holder and Officers to ensure the funds are being spent in the correct place. 

Cllr Williams advised that the IAG felt that the Long Marston bid was not robust enough and 

commented that it is asking a lot of them to upgrade their business case and it will give them some 

comfort to know that the effort they will need to put into that work will be time well spent. 

JDoe raised a procedural point that this report will go on to Council so will need to pin down exactly 

what is in this proposed first phase ahead of the Council meeting on 22
nd

 February. 

Cllr Williams asked for confirmation that this is not a Council decision but a Cabinet one? 

NHowcutt advised that the recommendation to change the process needs to go to Council and the 

recommendation in this report is to do so.  Moving forward individual application expenditures will be 

decided at Cabinet level.   

Cllr Barrett sought clarification; are agreeing this is how we are going to proceed in future as per the 

recommendations set out in this report, and then secondary to that reviewing the current bids? 

Cllr Williams confirmed. 

Cllr Barrett added his backing to the proposal to show support to Long Marston. 

Cllr Elliot asked; what will that business plan consist of?   

Cllr Andrews responded that the biggest issue for us is the funding we are putting in is not all they 

need, so we need assurance they can get the other resource required to deliver the project; they need 

to how that will be met through income of the hall and other funding, so we are reassured that we will 

not be putting £250k into a project that cannot be completed. 

Cllr Williams concluded the proposal that recommendations as set out are agreed and a steer will be 

given on what bids are to go forward, reiterating the need to ensure that what is going to Council next 

week sets this out clearly. 

RECOMMENDATIONS AGREED 

Page 25



 

Page 26



Document is Restricted

Page 27

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Council 

Title of report: Council Tax Declaration 2023/24 

Date: 22nd February 2023 

Report on behalf of:  Councillor Graeme Elliott, Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services 

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: None 

Background papers: 

 

Budget Report - Agenda Item 9, Cabinet on 14 February 2023 

Council Tax Base - Agenda Item 7, Cabinet on 14 December 2022 

Glossary of 

acronyms and any 

other abbreviations 

used in this report: 

 

 

Report Author / Responsible Officer  

Fiona Jump, Head of Financial Services 

Nigel Howcutt, Chief Finance Officer  

 

Nigel.Howcutt@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228226 (ext. 2226) 

 

  

Corporate Priorities A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 

Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those most in 

need 

Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery 

Climate and ecological emergency 

Wards affected All 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1. As the billing authority for the borough of Dacorum, the Council 

is required to set Council Tax annually.  The purpose of this 

 

   

Council 
 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8

https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


report is to set the Council Tax for 2023/24 in accordance with 

statutory requirements.   

Recommendation (s) to the 

decision maker (s): 

1. It be noted that the Cabinet, at its meeting on 14 December 
2022, calculated the following amounts for the year 2023/24 
in accordance with regulations made under Section 31B (3) of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended), as 
inserted by Section 74 of the Localism Act 2011:- 

a) 59,922.3 being the figure calculated by the Council in 
accordance with regulation 3 of The Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012 
as its Council Tax base for the year; 

b) the amounts in Table 1 of this report (Tax Base for each part 
of the Council’s area to which one or more special items 
relate) being the amounts calculated by the Cabinet in 
accordance with regulation 6 The Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012 
as the amounts of its Council Tax base for the year for 
dwellings in such parts; 

2. the following amounts be now calculated by the Council for 
the year 2023/24 in accordance with Sections 31A and 31B 
and Sections 34 and 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992 (as amended) (referred to as “the Act”): 

 
 (a) £156,692,425.10 being the aggregate of the amounts 

which the Council estimates for the items 
set out in Section 31A (2) of the Act, 
taking account of all precepts;  

 
 (b) £142,118,265.00 being the aggregate of the amounts 

which the Council estimates for the items 
set out in Section 31A (3) of the Act, 
including the aggregate of the sums 
which the Council estimates will be 
payable for the year into its General Fund 
in respect of redistributed Non-Domestic 
Rates and Revenue Support Grant; 

 
 (c) £14,574,160.10 being the amount by which the 

aggregate at 2)(a) above exceeds the 
aggregate at 2)(b) above, calculated by 
the Council in accordance with Section 
31A(4) of the Act as its Council Tax 
requirement for the year; 

  
(d) £243.22 being the amount at 2)(c) above, divided 

by 1)(a) above, calculated by the Council 
in accordance with Section 31B (1)  of the 
Act as the basic amount of its Council Tax 
for the year; 

 
(e) £1,233,658.45 being the aggregate amount of all special 

items referred to in Section 34(1) of the 
Act; 

Page 30



 
(f) £222.63 being the amount at 2)(d) above, less the 

result given by dividing the amount at 
2)(e) above by the amount at 1)(a) above, 
calculated by the Council, in accordance 
with Section 34(2) of the Act as the basic 
amount of its Council Tax for the year for 
dwellings in those parts of its area to 
which no special item relates; 

(g) Band D charge for Parish and District combined), being the 
amounts given by adding to the amount at 2)(f) above, the amounts 
of the special item or items relating to dwellings in those parts of 
the Council’s area mentioned above divided in each case by the 
amount at 1)(b) above, calculated by the Council in accordance 
with Section 34(3) of the Act, as the basic amounts of its Council 
Tax for the year for dwellings in parts of its area to which special 
items relate; 

Parish 

Band D Band D Band D 

Equivalent Equivalent Equivalent 

Parish District Combined 

£ £ £ 

Hemel Hempstead 0.00           222.63            222.63  

Aldbury 66.47           222.63            289.10  

Berkhamsted 52.17           222.63            274.80  

Bovingdon 36.68           222.63            259.31  

Chipperfield 65.13           222.63            287.76  

Flamstead 59.12           222.63            281.75  

Flaunden 34.37           222.63            257.00  

Great Gaddesden 21.61           222.63            244.24  

Kings Langley 55.06           222.63            277.69  

Little Gaddesden 35.84           222.63            258.47  

Markyate 63.28           222.63            285.91  

Nash Mills 30.41           222.63            253.04  

Nettleden/Potten End 29.81           222.63            252.44  

Northchurch 27.87           222.63            250.50  

Tring Rural 43.47           222.63            266.10  

Tring Town 32.89           222.63            255.52  

Wigginton 26.44           222.63            249.07  

 

3. it be noted that for the year 2023/24 Hertfordshire County 
Council have stated the amounts in precepts issued to the 
Council in accordance with Section 40 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 for each of the categories of 
dwellings as set out in table 3; 
 

4. That it be noted that for the year 2023/24 the Police and 
Crime Commissioner for Hertfordshire has proposed the 
amounts in precepts issued to the Council in accordance with 
Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 for each 
of the categories of dwellings as set out in table 3; 

 

Page 31



5. That having calculated the aggregate in each case of the 
amounts at 2)(g), 3) and 4) above the Council in accordance 
with Section 30(2) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, 
hereby set the amounts set out in Table 3 of the report as the 
amounts of Council Tax for the year 2023/24 for each part of 
the area and for each of the categories of dwellings shown; 

 
6. It be noted that in setting the Council Tax for 2023/24 the 

Council is required to have taken account of the report of the 
Chief Finance Officer on the robustness of the budget. 

Period for post policy/project 

review: 

Not applicable 

 

1  Background:  

1.1 This report sets out the statutory information and recommendations necessary to determine the 

Council’s Council Tax requirement for 2023/24, based on the Cabinet’s recommendations from its 

meeting on 14 February 2023, which have been referred to Council for approval on this agenda. 

 

1.2 In approving the budget for 2023/24 Members will be aware that they were required to have regard 

to the report of the Chief Finance Officer (as included in agenda item 9 for the Cabinet meeting of 

14 February 2023, specifically appendix M of the report) when making a decision. 

 

1.3 The Council’s Council Tax requirement includes precepts from parishes. The Council Tax resolutions 

incorporate the parish precepts and those of the County Council and the Police and Crime 

Commissioner. 

 

2  Council Tax Requirement:   

2.1 The Chief Finance Officer incorporated within the budget report to Cabinet a statement in 
compliance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003.  This requires the Chief 
Finance Officer to report on a) the robustness of the estimates made for the purpose of budget 
calculations and b) the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves.   
 

2.2 The Council’s Council Tax Requirement is £14,574,160.10 as follows: 
 

 
 

 
 

Council Tax Recommendations: 

2.3 The statutory Council Tax calculations require the above amount to include the Revenue Support 
Grant, the retained Business Rates (collectively referred to as Baseline funding) and any surplus or 
deficit on the Collection Fund. The result is set as the Council Tax requirement and is divided by the 
Council Tax base to determine the “basic amount” of the Council Tax for the year.  At its meeting 
on 14 December 2022 Cabinet determined the Council Tax base (after collection rate adjustment 
of 99.4%) as 59,922.3 together with the amount for each parish.  As this includes parish precepts 
(referred to as “special items”), these are then deducted (expressed as a Council Tax amount) from 
the “basic amount” to show the amount of Council Tax in any area where there is no parish precept 
(Hemel Hempstead only). 
 

 £ 

Base net budget recommended by Cabinet 13,340,501.65 

Add Parish Precepts 1,233,658.45 

Council Tax  Requirement 14,574,160.10 

Page 32



2.4 The amount of Council Tax in each parish (that is the total of the Council’s amount and the parish 
amount) is then shown. 

 

2.5 The Council Tax bill for 2023/24 includes the requirements of Hertfordshire County Council and the 

Police and Crime Commissioner for Hertfordshire which are responsible for setting their own 

Council Tax levels.  The amount of the precepts from the County Council and the Police and Crime 

Commissioner for each Council Tax “band” (A to H) are then noted and the final total amount for 

each parish is then shown by each band (Table 3). 

 

Precepts: 

2.6 Hertfordshire County Council determined its Council Tax requirement at a meeting held on 21st 

February 2023, at which a council tax increase of 2.99% and a Social Care Precept of 2% was agreed. 

 

2.7 The Police and Crime Commissioner determined its Council Tax requirement at a meeting held on 

2nd February 2023, at which an increase of 6.73% was agreed. 

 

Resolution: 

2.8 The Council Tax resolution is in a prescribed form, designed to satisfy legal requirements, and is set 

out at the beginning of this report. 

 

TABLE 1 TAX BASE FOR EACH PART OF THE COUNCIL’S AREA 

 

 

 

 

 

Parish 
Tax base (based on 
eventual 99.4% 
collection rate) 

Hemel Hempstead 32,073.0 

Aldbury 479.9 

Berkhamsted 8,626.4 

Bovingdon 2,137.5 

Chipperfield 894.4 

Flamstead 663.8 

Flaunden 179.0 

Great Gaddesden 461.8 

Kings Langley 2,362.8 

Little Gaddesden 638.6 

Markyate 1,353.2 

Nash Mills 1,241.7 

Nettleden with Potten End 804.9 

Northchurch 1,375.3 

Tring Rural 694.7 

Tring Town 5,254.6 

Wigginton 680.7 

Total Taxbase 59,922.3 

Page 33



TABLE 2 BAND D CHARGE FOR PARISH AND DISTRICT COMBINED 

Parish 

Band D Band D Band D 

Equivalent Equivalent Equivalent 

Parish District Combined 

£ £ £ 

Hemel Hempstead 0.00           222.63            222.63  

Aldbury 66.47           222.63            289.10  

Berkhamsted 52.17           222.63            274.80  

Bovingdon 36.68           222.63            259.31  

Chipperfield 65.13           222.63            287.76  

Flamstead 59.12           222.63            281.75  

Flaunden 34.37           222.63            257.00  

Great Gaddesden 21.61           222.63            244.24  

Kings Langley 55.06           222.63            277.69  

Little Gaddesden 35.84           222.63            258.47  

Markyate 63.28           222.63            285.91  

Nash Mills 30.41           222.63            253.04  

Nettleden/Potten End 29.81           222.63            252.44  

Northchurch 27.87           222.63            250.50  

Tring Rural 43.47           222.63            266.10  

Tring Town 32.89           222.63            255.52  

Wiggington 26.44           222.63            249.07  

Page 34



TABLE 3 COUNCIL TAX FOR EACH VALUATION BAND 2023/24 

Band A B C D E F G H 

Band D Equivalent Proportions 6/9 7/9 8/9 9/9 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 

Analysis of Major Precepting Authorities         

Hertfordshire County Council 1,070.42 1,248.82 1,427.23 1,605.63 1,962.44 2,319.25 2,676.05 3,211.26 

Hertfordshire Police and Crime Commissioner 158.67 185.11 211.56 238.00 290.89 343.78 396.67 476.00 

Dacorum Borough Council 148.42 173.16 197.89 222.63 272.10 321.58 371.05 445.26 

Council Tax Rates Including All Precepts         
 Aldbury    1,421.82    1,658.79    1,895.76    2,132.73    2,606.67    3,080.62    3,554.55    4,265.46  

 Berkhamsted    1,412.29    1,647.67    1,883.05    2,118.43    2,589.19    3,059.97    3,530.72    4,236.86  

 Bovingdon    1,401.96    1,635.62    1,869.28    2,102.94    2,570.26    3,037.59    3,504.90    4,205.88  

 Chipperfield    1,420.93    1,657.75    1,894.57    2,131.39    2,605.03    3,078.69    3,552.32    4,262.78  

 Flamstead    1,416.92    1,653.07    1,889.23    2,125.38    2,597.69    3,070.01    3,542.30    4,250.76  

 Flaunden    1,400.42    1,633.82    1,867.23    2,100.63    2,567.44    3,034.26    3,501.05    4,201.26  

 Great Gaddesden    1,391.92    1,623.90    1,855.89    2,087.87    2,551.84    3,015.82    3,479.79    4,175.74  

 Kings Langley    1,414.22    1,649.91    1,885.62    2,121.32    2,592.73    3,064.14    3,535.54    4,242.64  

 Little Gaddesden    1,401.40    1,634.97    1,868.54    2,102.10    2,569.23    3,036.38    3,503.50    4,204.20  

 Markyate    1,419.70    1,656.31    1,892.93    2,129.54    2,602.77    3,076.01    3,549.24    4,259.08  

 Nash Mills    1,397.78    1,630.74    1,863.71    2,096.67    2,562.60    3,028.54    3,494.45    4,193.34  

 Nettleden/Potten End    1,397.38    1,630.28    1,863.18    2,096.07    2,561.86    3,027.67    3,493.45    4,192.14  

 Northchurch    1,396.09    1,628.77    1,861.45    2,094.13    2,559.49    3,024.87    3,490.22    4,188.26  

 Tring Rural    1,406.49    1,640.90    1,875.32    2,109.73    2,578.56    3,047.40    3,516.22    4,219.46  

 Tring Town    1,399.44    1,632.67    1,865.92    2,099.15    2,565.63    3,032.12    3,498.59    4,198.30  

 Wigginton    1,395.14    1,627.65    1,860.18    2,092.70    2,557.75    3,022.80    3,487.84    4,185.40  

 Unparished (Hemel Hempstead)    1,377.51    1,607.09    1,836.68    2,066.26    2,525.43    2,984.61    3,443.77    4,132.52  

P
age 35



3 Options and alternatives considered 

 Not applicable. 

4 Consultation 

 Not applicable. 

5 Financial and value for money implications 

Formal Council approval of proposed Council Tax levels for the forthcoming financial year is a statutory 

requirement. The scrutiny associated with the setting of the Council Tax ensures Value for Money 

considerations are addressed as part of the approval process. 

6 Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

7 Risk implications: 

Budget risk assessments have been undertaken. 

8 Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 

Where appropriate, Community Impact Assessments for proposed budget amendments have been 

undertaken by relevant service areas. 

There are no Equalities or Human Rights implications arising from this report. 

9 Sustainability implications (including climate change, health and wellbeing, community safety) 

There are no implications arising from this report. 

10 Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other resources) 

There are no direct infrastructure implications arising from this report. 

11 Statutory Comments 

 

Monitoring Officer: 

 

No comments to add to the report. 

 

S151: 

This report is a S151 Officer report. 

12 Conclusions:   

This report sets out the statutory information and recommendations necessary to determine the Council’s Council 

Tax requirement for 2023/24. 

 

 

Page 36


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Business from the last council meeting
	7 Cabinet referrals
	Part 2 Cabinet Referrals Feb 23

	8 Council Tax Report

